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i  MR.EBNETER: It's 2 couple minutes after
@ 8:00. We'd like 1o get started. Pat, is your staff
® here?

w  MR.BEARD: Yes
s MR.EBNETER: Gibson and Ellis, all your
o staff's here?

m  MR.GIBSON: Yes.

® MR.EBNETER: Good morning | want to

w welcome vou to Region 11 I'm Stu Ebneter, regional
o) administrator for Region I of the Nuclear

11 Regulatory Commission. Of course Region II has
112 jurisdicuion over licensed nuclear activities in the
113 southeast United States, and Crystal River falls
114 within the purview of that region.
11$) This is a meetng this morning between
118) Florida Power Corporation and Region II, and the
nn purpose of the meeting is to discuss some apparent
118 noncompliances with the Agency's rules and
19 regulations 18 This 1s a predecisional enforcement
0] conference, and the purpose, again, is to discuss
21 with you some events over the past year to two years
iz2) that have occurred at Crystal River 3, to discuss
123) the facts and circumstances surrounding those, and
(24) 1O try to resolve some conflicting issues that we
128) still have as a result of some of our mspccuons

Page 4

1) and mvestugations
?) This is a closed meeting, and it is being
@ transcribed. I should caution you, if you get
) questioned by the staff and if yov don't know the
51 answer, you should say you don't know. You should
|6 NOL try to get into a situation - you know what I'm
7 saying. If you don't know, we'll tell you to put it
&1 on the record and request you to put it in writing,
w of course, but don't get yourself into a situation
(10p where you 're trying to talk about something you
(111 don't know about. Those issues frequently do come
2 up
(193] This meeting s predecisional That is,
(141 there has been no specific decision made yet with
115 regard to enforcement, and the meeting is for
;161 Crystal River to present any facts, ar - of their
17 reasoning regarding the issues that a.« on the
(1s; table. You should also point out any mistakes or
e errors that you may have seen that are in the NRC
20y documentation and inspection reports or other
21) material that you may have presented to us in the
1221 past. You should also provide any new information
23 that wr have not had access to, 2nything that would
) help us reach a fair and accurate determination of
28} wtm acuons we should take.

| Ms
] 1 This case is a very complex one. It
@ involves not only the facility license but the
m license of several of your operators. All of those
| are under our purview also, and we will deal with
| 5 both of them partly in combination in this meeting
' ® and in individual sessions with the operators.
'm  This meeting, however, is focused on
' w Florida Power Corporation's license and the

© management of the facility and its impact on the
(10 actions that the operators took in their licensed
111 activities. Facility management of course is
n2 ultimately responsible to assure that operations and
113) activities comply with the regulations and any
{16 commutments that you have made 0 us epplicable 1o
s} Crystal River 3's license, and that is the main
ne focus nere: Flonda Power's organization apparent
7 inability to comply overall with these regulations.
e We have numerous inspection reports and
:('q investigation reports on the docket, and there are
|20} still some issues with those The staff has
o1 formulated some questions which will come out as
!m part of the presentation. Mr. Al Gibson, our
|3 Director of the Division of Reactor Safer will
|r2¢) essentially run the conference, but I can't
@s) ovcremphanzc to you thc unpomt of this

Page 6

l e Ss e

| 1 conference.
| @ We also have today with us the Director
| @ of the Office of Enforcement, Jim Licherman, we have
l ) representatives from NRR, and they'll all introduce
| ® themselves. We have a member of the EDO staff, we
o have the Office of Congressional Affairs represented
 and the Office of General Counsel, to say nothing of
| # Region Il counsel, Ms. Evans.
| The issues before us are broad, and my
{vo) view is basically these actions that the operators
i1t took were unacceptable. These operators were
i1z functioning as your representatives. They worked
|13 for you even though they are individually licensed.
‘14 Their actions represent your philosophy, and this is
15, my summary because they work for you, Either they
(18 were working outside of your expectations or vou
|7 have as mamagers created an environment that ¢ owed
|18 them to do this, and we would like to hear about
I119) that, and I'm sure you're going to address it.
| r20) Those practices, to violate the rules and
@1 regulations of the Commussion to prove a safety
@2 point, were not acceptable, and there's ne excuse to
28] vivlate the law to prove a point to someone. The

12¢) operators had many options available 10 them other
s thm pursuing thu course of action If (hcy didn’ t

Page 3 - Page 6 (4)
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( know those other courses of action, that's your ‘11 MR.BEARD: Pat Beard, senior vice
@ responsibility, too. But there's clear indication | @ president, nuclear operations.
@ 10 me that management, if you didn't know, that you ' ®m MR, HICKLE: Bruce Hickle, director of
# shouid have known of these types of practices. It's | ) plant operations.
5 your job as managers to perform the oversight in 1% MR.BOLDT: Gary Boldt, vice president of
® that control room and to make sure that your staff | s nuciear production.
7 18 complying with the rules and regulations of the 'm  MR.TANGUAY: Paul Tanguay, director of
i Commussion. ! ® nuclear engineering and projects.
W  That's enough of my lecture iu. ;o ' m  MR.KELLEY: Larry Kelley, director of
(o) want to get on with the meeting We'll go through ‘1o nuclear operation and site support.
111 some introductions. I'd commented that the meeting 11 MR. GUTHERMAN: Brian Gutherman, manager,
12 is being transcribed. Al and 1 have discussed & nuclear licensing,
('3 briefly the conduct of the meeting. It's probably 1% MR HALNON: Greg Halnon, also licensing
(14 going to be long, and I want to give you the ipq manager.
(15 Opportunity to make your story, your presentation, 16 MR.BUTCHER: Ross Butcher, senior
16 80 what we 've decided i we've got it broken into /& resident inspector on Crystal River.
17 these apparent aoncompliances. We'll let you get {(m MR. LANDIS: Kcrry Landis, chief of
e through ecach one individually, the staff should hold |18 reactor projects, branch three.
(19 their questions to the end of that one violation, 9y MIR. JAUDON: jJohns Jaudon, deputy
120; and then we'll get to the questions and answers. - director, division of reactor safety.
@1 They're interrelated, those things, so 21 MR. MERSCHOFF: Ellis Merschoff, director
@2 there will probably be some redundancy in the iz of reactor projects.
@ questions. If we just let you make the presentation = MR.GIBSON: Al Gibson, director of the
124 for an hour or two and then go on, I don't think it \2) division of reactor safety.
si will be effectve, but it's also not going to be 5"‘ MR. MORRIS: I'm just a general observer,
Page 8 : Page 10
1 effective to have everybody jump in and say, What | 11 Bruce Morris.
2 about this or that. So I think that's how we'll '@  MS.EVANS: Carolyn Evans, regionai
m proceed. ' ® counsel
W As we get toward the end of the '@ MR.BEALL: I'm Jim Beall for the Office
15 conference the staff wiil probably want to take a ® of Enforcement.
8 caucus. The standard procedure that they give me is '@  MR.TRACY: Glenn Tracy, EDO staff.
7 & ten minute caucus, and my guess is it won't be 2 m  MR. CALDWELL: Bob Caldwell, project
# ten minute caucus, it will piobably take longer, but ® engineer
® we ll break and come back and have any additional | m MR.RAPP: Curt Rapp, regional inspector.
1o questions and then close the meeting. | do poy  MRA. LANYE: David Lanyi, project
{11 appreciaie your coming in. | know this has been « 11 engineer
vz very large job for your staff and the NRC saff. wa MS. BOLAND: Anne Boland, senior
13 Everybody involved has had a great burden to bear on (13 enforcement specialist.
114} this. 1) MS. KEELING: Betsy Keeling, Office of
115) With that, we'll go through the (115 Congressional Affairs.
e introductions, and then I'll turn it over to Bruno, re  MS. CLARK: Lisa Clark, Office of the
n7 and then we will discuss with you the enforcement 11 General Counsel.
18 policy. 118 MR WEINBERG: Sandy Weinberg. I'm an
e MR.LIEBERMAN: I'm Jim Lieberman, the |18 attorney.
@0 Director of the NRC Office of Enforcement. 29 MR. STENGER: Dan Stenger of Winston &
@1 MR.URYC: Bruno Uryc, Director of Region |1 Strasvn representing Florida Power.
2 1 Enforcement Staff. z27  MR. GADDY: Rodney Gaddy, corporate
@ MR. RICHARDS: Stuart Richards 3 counsel for Florida Power.
24  MR.IMBRO: I'm Gene Imbro, Project =4  MR.JACOBS: Mark Jacobs, manager of

28 Director for the NRR. [26) SUIALCRIC COMMUNICALIONS.

(5) Page 7 - Page 10
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i1 MR.BECKER: Gary Becker, make-up tank 2 and o g

.- | m acommnundemmdmgoftbcmlﬁunccof

n mmjnm\lonespecnluem ,mthc | and(h:needﬁor e

 Office of Investigations. 1 :' The .

s MR RAGHAVAN: L Raghavan, project | spparent vilations discusscd 1 this

. o | proje ‘ncoﬂemnccmmbpcnohnhctmmdmey

m  MR.MCNULTY: Bill McNulty, director of b . gl sl

ot Alfiniianitans call m en‘orcement action. It's important to note that the

i m' I-" n‘:':r_ ik dta ® decision to conduct this conference does not mean
o wentify who you're affiliated with? :(hathcd mh:’ | SNED.A AN

W MR, Tnm 119 occurred or that enforcement action will be taken.
‘ MORRIS: 1 represcat the operators at i1 1'd also like to note at this time that the
12 the plant, actually four operators. I'm an attorney i
m i Atlanes. 112 statement of views or expression of opinion made by
v MR.E : : 113 the NRC staff at this conference or the lack thereof
s MR.URYC: Thank you, Mr. Ebneter. I'd Y0 S Sh e

determinations or beliefs regarding matter.

e like to take just a few minutes to go over the NRC e Following Qrmnmn m::nll '
1n enforcement policy and procedure for you. A 9 m ; nccthc
i GO g, ity 117 administrator, in conjunction with the NRC Office of
o identified, it's assessed in accordance with the - af o md.othcr . iy "
ot O M olicy wihich s il 5“ enforcement decision, and this process should take

MITUSSIO ment which 1s publishe I0; about four to six weeks to accomplish

21 as NUREG 1600 The assessment of an apparent ' : .

e RS g @1 Finally, if the enforcement action
PRI S RN i R @2 involves a proposed civil penalty, the N... will

23 violation into one of four severnity levels based on iom i .

- sl Sty o el iipleripy gl (@3 issue a press release 24 hours after the ~aforcement

safety signitica |r2¢) action is issued. Thank you.

2% there is a potential for escalated ' A0

b s ‘“‘“’S‘i‘“_‘:‘ w__.w___‘!m MR. LIEBERMAN: Good morning. My name is
Page 12 | iy

(1] action, that is, where the sevenity level of the ion 14 ) : ; e

= o alabiui & o 08 sy St \ i Jim Lscbcrtmnmd I'm antending this conference

@ one, two or three, a predecisional enforcement |® : A= 2k qu ’ B Ay

@ confierence is hold. ® issucs. | w_tm to emphasize at the outset, as Mr.

51 There are three primary enforcement “ on th du‘.(thax o ok your.

® sanctions available to the NRC, and they are notices : rccogne ;:n::: o Scptdocmmbcr . a::.; ,‘»’h‘d‘ =

m of violaton, civil penaliies, and orders. Notices ‘ i s oo, by g

' a0 . i | m primary focus of this predecisional enforcement

# of violation and civil penalties are issued based on i i !

S B okasitns S i i | @ cogfmncc.Whuc we re concerned about them, our
119 viokations or, in the absence of a violation, ;(: miog::pom::o: PN TR
(111 because of a signi i | '

e significant public health and safety 11 As Mr Ebneter mentioned, we have a
. | : i
. et —— {2 number of issucs to discuss today. | want you 10
o atiance s Ase cmo‘ ""m - (13 know six of the concerns that I'm especially
‘ 5 Stinlly the lnas stop of the 114 interested in.
;1% inspection and investigation process before the lng My first area of concern focuses on the
e staff makes its final enforcement decision. The |
i e performance of the operations department that
(17 purpose of this conference is not to negotiate a i - i
17 permitted routine exceeding of operating limits in
18 sanction Qur purpose here today is to obtain 5
, ) (8 several cases for more than an hour; that insisted
1@ information that will assist us in determining the ! :
: s the plant operate on a curve knowing
20) appropriate enforcement action | s o e
. 120] questioned the safety in so doing and, rather than
21 We would expect to develop information i

it iaald ; : _ /@) insisting the matter be promptly resolved,

provide us with a common understanding of @2 instituted frequent monitoring of true performance

@3 the facts, root causes and missed opportunities | i

_ |23 10 see who did not operate on the curve; that did

124) associated with the apparent violations, a commo; ' - e .
= , n ]rm not investigate the root causes of the safety

understanding o! corrective action taken or planned, {@s) evolutions and perform a human factors review of the

Page 11 - Page 14 (6) Min-UScripte  BROWN REPORTING, INC. (404) 876-8979
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1) events; that did not interview each member of the

2 operating crew to understand what happened and why:

m and that apparently did not invesugate to determine

@ if there were other unauthorized evolutions to

18 obtain data with either the make-up tank or other

1 systems.

m My second area of concern is with the

® communications between engineering and operations

w that led to the failure of the engineering

1o organization to bring forward knowledge of the

111 September 4th evolution.

na My third area of concerii is the

(1% environment for raising concerns such that a manager

4 involved in licensed activities felt compelled 1o

18 use the employee concern program rather than bring
{ 18 his knowledge of the September 4th evolution to the

117 attention of operations and that Florida Power

s Corporation did not promptly and aggressively

1% resolve a safety concern raised by a senior reactor

20) OpeErator.

1) In that regard, | have to presume that a

@2 licensed operator does not normally raise concerns

123 that operating limits are non-conservative, and when

4 that occurs | would have presumed that a licensee

2s; would consider it 2 high safety priority 10

Page 16
1 resolve. However, in this case it apnears that the
12 issue percolated without senior management assisting
m and getting it promptly resolved.
4 Fourth is the performance of the
15 engineering department. Notwithstanding repeated
& opportunities, they did not aggressively pursue the
m matter, promptly resolve it, and recognize it was a
m design basis curve. Even after it was recognized as
® a design basis curve, it was not initially property
1o corrected.
(1) My 5th concern has to do with the LER
1z preparation, which was done with engineering's
119 assistance but did not describe the evolution on the
4 4th nor stated that every time the plant operated on
115 or exceeded Curve 8 the plant exceeded its design
(15 basis.
1n Finally, I'm concerned why Flonida Power
s Corporation did not begin a real investigation of
(9 this matter until after the originally scheduled
o conferences were canceled 2lmost a year after the
[21) 1ssue arose. Frankly, in my view, which | sincerely
221 hope is wrong, the actions of this company seem to
23 demonstrate an intent to place the focus on Mr,
29) Fields and his crew rather than on the significant
¢ shortcomings of Florida Power Corporation

Page 17
n  Tlook forward to your explanations
2 today, because 1 hope they'll be heipful for the NRC
@ to make an appropriate enforcement decision. With
) that, let me turn it over te Al Gibson.
5 MA. GIBSON: What I'd like to do today is
@ first call your attention to a handout that you
m should have been provided that includes the agenda
1 that you see and a brief summary of the notices of
® violation that we are considering and then a more
1o detailed description of that apparent violation
111} which really has more information than we could get
1) up on & slide that could be viewed throughout the
13 room. [ would like to go through each of the
(14 apparent violations in summary with you.
115) I'd like first, though, to reiterate some
18 of the things the others have said. | would like to
17 encourage you, if you believe that there is a
|'e) mistake or an error in any of the reports that we
{9 have sent to you or in the proposed notices that
20 we re discussing today, to bring that to our
211 attention,
/a1 would offer that, aithough I'm going
iz through the apparent violations in a particular
i24) order, you can change the order as you wish. We
12s] will hold our questions and give them to you after

I
11 each of the four apparent violations have been
| @ discussed. We will caucus, as Mr. Ebneter said,
i ® when the presentations are complete and the
| W questions are complete.
| ® I would like to remind the NRC staff that

® if you believe there are errors, if you believe

m something that FPC is stating is not correct, we
| would like for you to raise t'...t before we caucus.
| m Idon't want to go to the caucus and then somebody
?mn say, Well, I don't agree with that, that wasn 't
‘111 really correct. I'd rather hear it here so that FPC
{121 has an opportunity to hear it
s MR.EBNETER: Let me Stop @ minute. Jim
|14 Lieberman just mentioned something to me, and | want
118 him to make the comment right now.
6 MR. LIEBERMAN: After Al gets through
‘117 with describing the issues of his concern, if
(w8 Florida Power wants to caucus to make sure that
‘1; they're satisfied with their presentation based on
‘20 any of our opening remarks, feel free to do so.
21 MR.BEARD: Thank you.
iz MR.GIBSON: With that, I'll proceed and
‘@3 go through what we see as apparent violations at
/24) this point.

@s)  The first item I'll discuss is an

Page 18

BROWN REPORTING, INC. (404) 876-8979 Min-U-Scripte

(7) Page 15 - Page 18



. March 27, 1996

PROCLLUINGS BEFOKE SIEWAKI EBNETER, LHMRMAX\

N RE: :
PREDECISIONAL ENFORCEMENT CONFERNECE

P.g.w!

111 apparent violation of Tech Spec 5.6.1.1 for failure
2 to follow procedures on nine occasions. During the
m penod of June | through September S, 1994 OP-103B,
) Curve 8 was exceeded by more than one-half psig for
5 continuous periods of more than 30 minutes on these
&) nine occasions. Furthermore, the alarm response
n procedure, AR-403, was not foilowed in that
# operators failed to take action to reduce make-up
® tank pressure on these nine occasions.
it The second violauion that we would like
(1) to discuss is an apparent violation of
21 10 CFR 50.59. On September 4th and 5th, 1994
(13 operators failed to comply with 10 CFR 50.59 when
14 they conducted tests not described in the FSAR of
18 make-up tank level and pressure without a written
118 safety evaluation to determine if an unreviewed
110 safery question existed. The limits of OP-1038, the
(& requirements of OP402, and the requirements of
19 AR<403 were violated during these tests. Subsequent
20) analysis revealed that an unreviewed safety question
@y did in fact exist.
22} T e third violation is a violaton of
23 Critenion XVI. Criterion XV1 of 10 CFR 50, Appendix
24 B, requires corrective action for conditions adverse
28 to quality The first exampile is Problem Report

Page 20
1 940149 dated May 10, 1994 which identified a
@ concern with the accuracy of Curve 8 An
@ engineering evaluation dated june 4th, 1994 found no
#) errors in the curve or its supportng calculations,
15 and subsequent evaluations in response to a later
6 problem report, 940267, dated September 7, '95
m found significant errors in the curve and the
# calculations.
®) The second example of Criterion XVI
(10) refers to corrections to the curve that were
iy subsequently issued. Revised guidance and curves
12 issued on three occasions between September 9, 1994
3 and January 30, 1995 were not adequate to prevent
(14 operation outside the plant's design basis.
(18) The final example of Criterion XVI is for
16 failure to take timely corrective action on an event
7 that you had previously described in Licensee Event
'8 Report 92003 You may recall this was a licensee
vw event report that described your finding that some
201 of the fuel in the emergency diesel fuel oil tanks
121) was not usable because it was below the elevation of
22 the sucuon pipe in the tank, and as parn of your
23] correcuve action plan you stated that you would
24) review other tanks for this same condition, The
126 borated water storage tank was specifically listed.

Page 21
| We believe that, had you performed this
!n review, you might have identified a violation that
}m I'll discuss next, an example of failure o
| ) translate design requirements into plant
| ® procedures. Also, an NRC inspection in April of '95
® found the same problem existed in a fire water
| 1 storage tank.
Im With that, I'd like to move to the final
|nviohtion,whichhaviohﬁonofcmenonm.an
{1 apparent violation of Criterion Il for design
{111 control. This apparent violation includes four
ina exampies where you apparently did not adequately
(13 translate plant design information into plant
!(ul procedures.
15 The first exampie is Curve 8, which we've
|ve talked about previously. It did not provide control
{17 10 prevent gas binding of make-up pumps The second
. example is that as late as February of 1995 EOPs,
;my Emergency Operating Procedures, directed operators
,Zm to swap low pressure injection suction from the
inu borated water storage tank to the reactor building
|22 at a borated water storage tank level of five feet.
im This level was too low to prevent gas binding of the
|24) HPI pumps due to vortexing of water in the borated
‘28 water storage tank.

Page 22

1

(1 The third example of the apparent
| @ violation of Appendix B, Criterion 111 is that from
" m April 8, 1993 through March the 22nd, 1995 a
| w condition existed such that during post LOCA
s operation with one LPI pump supplying two HPI pumps
#® and with the HPI crosstie valve open the reactor
= building sump water level could be insufficient to
| ®m provide adequate net positive suction heads to the
© LPI pumps.
(10} Finally, the fourth example 15 procedure
{111 SP-300, requiring 35 feet of water to be maintained
12 in the fire water storage tanks. Because of the
113 elevated suction point in these tanks, 35 feet of
(14 water was not cnough to meet design basis
(18] requIrements.
e In summary, that's the four violations
(17 that are apparent to us that we would like you to
18 comment on. With that, I'll turn it over to you,
e Pat.
‘w0 MR.BEARD: [ have one thing I'd like to
:{"" caucus with my people on, probably Gary Becker and
22 Paul Tanguay.
(23 (Discussion ensued off the record.)

(4] (A recess was taken.)
25  MR. BEARD: Let me start off by saying

Page 19 - Page 22 (8)
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11 that we're glad 10 be here. You'd probably say, Why
@ is he saying that, and the answer is we re glad to
@ be here and settle this thing with you, take our
“ medicine and get it behind us. We 're not glad the
5 apparent violations occurred, but it's been a
® catzlyst for change, we 've learned from the
7 experience, and we 're better off. As we go through
w this, we intend to demonstrate that.
) We heard very carefully the words of Mr.
1o Ebneter and Mr. Licberman. We recognize that the
(1 overriding issue here is not what the operators did
12 or didn't do or what calculations were right or
119) weren 't right or why they weren't right. The issue
14 here, as you've said, and we recognize it and we
(18 intend to address it, is what was dur organization
(s doing then, what was management doing, and we will
(17 address that.
118) In fact, we plan 10 demonstrate that it
118 was not an environment where people were expected or
201 allowed to do what they wanted 1o. Mr. Licberman,
@1 you made the statement that you hoped that your
22y perceptions were incorrect, and we think that they
(23] are to a large cxtent, and we intend to demonstrate
{24 that. We accept the apparent violations, that's not
126 an issue; of course management aCcepts

Page 24 |

1 responsibility for everything that happens at our
(2 plant, and that's not an issue. Instead, our focus
s will focus oa the root causes, particularly the
# management issues, and corrective actions to address
i) and prevent recurrence
] We will of course include the concerns
m that you have with management, and we will also
i# address what we had al: _ady in our minds feit were
@ three key questions: One, why did the make-up tank
1o test happen; secondly, why didn't FPC management
11 know of the September the 4th test earlier and tell
12 you, and third, why did it take so long to fix the
13 technical issues associated with the make-up tank.
114} As we go through our presentation, | think those
18] questions will be answered, but just in case, [ will
ne specifically answer them at the conclusion of our
(17] presentation.
8 This conference of course is complicated,
e and I think it's reflected in some of the remarks
(20 that Mr. Ebneter made and Mr. Lieberman made by the
@2+ fact that we have terminated two operators, and now
221 we have an adversarial condition between the company
123 and these operators. As a result of that, they've
24) made a number of statements reflected in
@s] correspondence to you and in inspection reports and

! Page 26
| i1 in a recent letter to DOL. We realize that

@ complicates this waole thing, but as we go through
r this we will present management's position and side
| w of the story.

s I'd like to briefly review the agenda,

® you have a copy in fromt of you. I'm going to go

m through the chronology next. | think it's imporant
i right up front - Mr. Ebneter has said it's complex

w and it's been ongoing for a while - and | think it

noy would be beneficial right up front to go through the
111 chronology of the key things that happened and when
1z they happened and, in so doing, I'll also give 2 few
113 key facts that will be elaborated on further by Mr.
14 Hickle and Mr Tanguay as they discuss the issucs,
ns including management oversight.

1) Right after | finish here, though, we 're

117 going to have Greg Hainon just briefly show you the
118 make-up tank system and a couple of things that

9 might be useful, and then of course I'll give a

o) conclusion. We have copies of our overheads, and
@1 we'll provide those to you at the end of our

22 presentation. [ also have a b~k that | used in

% preparing, and I'll leave a copy with Mr. Ebneter.

@4 It's that thick binder over there of correspondence
@8 in chronological order that reflects what I'm going

Page 26
| 1 to talk about next. We also have, although [ can

| @ see now that the print is not large enough for you

| @ to see it at the back of the room, but we'll leave

| @ it up here, the chronology.

| m  First, a lictle background. In the

| ® '91-'92 time frame we received two IMPO

4: m evaluations, and in both cases they recommended in 1

' ® finding, which is stronger than recommending, that

' m we follow chemisty guidelines with respect to

ey hydrogen concentration reactor coolant, which was 22
111 to 45 cc's per kg. We had been running somewhere
12 between 1010 15

I During this same time frame you'll recall

{14 that the industry had a lot of focus on fuel

iivs) failures The reasons for that, one of the reasons

|11e) was corrosion due to oxygen, and therefore this

117 issue was receiving a lot of focus, and

. appropriately so.

L We commutted in '92 to meet the guideline

20 recommendations, and in ‘92 and ‘93 we had a series
‘@1 of meetings with engineering, operations and others
‘221 on how to do this. At our plant, due to our design,

123 which is somewhat unique compared to the other B&W

(24 plants with a make-up system, it wasn't an easy
‘26 thing to do.And as we went through this we found
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i omchucvctymwtambackmdwreﬂedwub ‘ 1" gave them That's wrong. We should have given them

mn.'hwhndermwcdwm:.l!mwc'um imﬁommcmmomcmcmwmof

@ using that as an excuse. @ margin such that, as long as they stayed there or

W Aayway,the sosults of those cfforts " below and during normal evolutions the tank drains

% culminated in April of '93 ~ well, I'll just use | 8 down, that it didn't cross the design basis curve.

) thb‘ one. We provided the operators t:c.h;urve the | & But we didn't do that.

” varable pressure temperature curve. was a l As a result of these anomalies a problem

® curve prior to that, but it was sort of up here. We s:mponmwmen.mmncponum,oum

:mvlhadaﬂathncﬂ lsmgndlmséiu!kefp ;ntheperbdo(]uncm&eptcuberMmanunbcr

(o pressure below that. Very simpie, period. That's o of management operations and engineering

i1 all thewr guidance was, and it was easy to follow. {111 interactions. In some areas I've heard that no one

'z However, we were only keeping hydrogen in the "2 was involved in addressing this. That's not

r# coolant between 10 and 15 cc’s per kg, so we gave in 13 correct There was a lot of involvement. Was it

[14) ufcahrm.Wcukedtlmmcymaommc i‘,., effective in fixing the issue before September the

1% higher hydrogen pressure and therefore to get more 18 4th? No. It wasn't effective, but there was plenty

18 cc's per kg. 16 of involvement, and you'll hear some more about

| Now, that did impose an additional ‘,.,, this.

18 operator burden. We had to manipulate things about [118) In fact, as we now know, the curve was

o five times a day to do that Yes, it was a burden, {9 reviewed in June '94 and erroncously reported by

20y but it was achievabie, it was doable. Particularly 20 system engineering that it was okay, and it wasn't

@1 starting around January ‘94 we put increasing ‘21 | mean, at that point there were two things wrong.

z2 emphasis on it. The operations manager was ‘@2 We didn't kuow it was a design basis, an.. there were

3 involved, and we felt that it could be done, and it |23 some terms and what have you that wers not correct.

@4 was being done, and we had started as we began 1o @4 There were in fact a series of documented meetings

s discuss what else we couid do to alleviate the }m between operations and engineering There was a
Page 26 Page 30

11 operator burden. These discussions started as early
@ as January '94

i1 formal meeung on August the 8th, 1 994 with
@ operations and engineering followed by 2 management

@ The next, | think, thing of interest is | @ meeung with the plant manager, the manager of

@ in May of ‘94 During a refuel we ran a « operations, Mr. Halnon, and a manager of nuclear

15 surveillance procedure which called for a full flow i plant technical support. Also, during these

® test of our high pressure injection, which is also ® meetings and as we were addressing Problem Report
7 our make-up tank system, so we have a system that ' m 94-149, we more and more realized the complexity of
@ has two purposes. again unique to Crystal River, and | @ the system interactions, the competing operation

® during that test several anomalics were noted The @ requirements. You'll hear a littie bit more about
1o level at the beginning dropped more quickly than was ‘10 that.
i1 expected. There were some evidence that the make-up 'y The next thing, | think, of significance
t2 pump. or high pressure injection pump. same thing, (121 occurs on September the 2nd. The manager of nuclear
13 were cavitaung, and as the system ievel was going 113 plant technical support, Mr. Campbeil, sent 2 memo
re) down in the make-up tank and the pressure was (14 to Mr. Hickie, the plant manager, and this memo,
115 plotting, the operating crew noted that the points 115) contrary to what the operators that we terminated

ne as they were plotting didn't appear to follow the (& would lead you to believe, was not an ultimatum.
1 shape of this curve. ‘"0 That was absolutely not the case. Nor did anyone

v T'li note at this point, not to belabor {8 else tell this crew that it's going to be closed
e the point, that this curve is a locus of calculated (' out, you have one last chance to do something.
201 points per design basis as we now know design ‘20 That's not true, and we can document that.

21 basis. Any time you drain it down other than for 2y Instead, the memo focused on how could we
22 LOCA design action conditions, the fact that «t 22 further relieve the operator burden through plant

23 doesn't follow the shape of this curve exactly, 23 modifications. And I might add that most of the

24 there's no reason why it should The real issue is 24 memo was focused on the operations suggestions from

25 and was that this was a design basis curve that we 25 the August 8th meeting. However, the memo again
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(1 stated erroneously that the operating curve appeared

12) 10 be okay, and that was wrong. I'd also note that

3 the memo also reflected that there was another

4] remaining corrective action to Problem Report 149

15 which said the curve would be reviewed again by

& September the 30th.

m Nevertheless, the make-up tank evolutions

# occurred on September the 4th and Sth. The crew, as

w @ result of that, presented data that culminated in
o) Problem Report 94-267 . At this point | wasn't going
(11 to talk at length on why they did it, but let me say
112) a few preliminary words because we're going to get
(13 back 1o that. In cur view, there was no excuse for
(14 doing it it was not in accordance with our
|15 expectations, and none of the other crew shift
(6 supervisors would have done it. We 're convinced of
(17 that; they told us. We don't think that management
(18 had any inkling that they were going to do it. It
(18 was done on a weekend. Hydrogen pressure was
(20 normal. In fact, it was 30 cc's per kg There was
21 no reason to be doing anything, but they did it, and
jza) we'll come back again to this later. I'm going to
z3; answer that question fully in the end.
24 On Seprember the 13th the plant manager
(2s) talks to the system engineer that's been involved in

Page 32
i) this, and the system engineer was comolaining that,

2/ "Hey, the operators ran this evolution to get data

@ and they should have had me involved”, and that

4 keyed the plant manager that, "“What, they did what?”
5 Now, why didn't we ask on September the 7th, "How
i® did you get the data"? We can't figure that out.

m But on September the 13th the plant manager said,

# "Wait a minute, this may be an unauthorized test "

@ He notified the senior resident inspector and the
o) branch chief and he convened a management review
committee on the 15th. This is a new initiative
We had not had management review commuttees before

Bruce Hickle told me that probably on the

14th or 5o, he told me that he was going 1o review
this management review commuttee . Gary Boldt at
this ime was attending an IMPO meeting, and | said,
“Yes, 1 like that idea, let’'s do it." We realized
i the principle involved. In fact, as | recall,
(@ probtiably on the 14th, in talking with Mr. Hickle, |

used the word Chernobyl myself We said, “We ve got
to do somethung different on this, we 've got to

express management artention early, we need to focus
on crew performance and the human performance
issues ' We wanted the management review committee
to do that and also confirm whether or not they

@

f20)
1]
(22)
23]
24]
(28]

1

Page 33
| (11 thought it was an unauthorized test. Bruce and |
@ were so angry, we wanted an amehiorating influence
@ if that was needed.
#  The purpose of the commuttee was to
s review the evolution, to address crew performance,
1 and provide recommendations thereto. They concluded
m that it was indeed an unauthorized test. Now,
® remember, on September the Sth we didn't know about
m the 4th, and I'll get to why we didn't, and they
110 developed recommendations to address the crew
' performance and the issue, and Bruce will talk about
i1z those, and to some extent, because the
113 recommendations were very good and we completed all
lng of them, and address the principle issue of human
li1s) performance and the principles involved.
‘e Now, in hindsight, and I would agree with
17 you or anybody who says it, our own investigation
later came up with this conclusion. It was a good
initative, but there's one thing wrong. In our
zeal to deal with thas thing, the human performance
1ssue, we circumvented our regular process of
writing a problem report and doing a root cause, and
we should have done that, written a problem report
about why did they do it, and we ve subsequently
done that. If we had done it then, maybe - [ mean,

(18)
19
20)

(22)
23)
[24)
125)

Page 34
you can hypothesize all you want to - we'd have

found out about the 4th. But we .dn't, and the

@ reason, in hindsight, is because at the time the

) operators appeared to be very forthcoming, sincere,

= "Yes, we screwed up, we re sorry, w meant well, we

i6) were trying to help resolve this issue |, and we

n accepted that. We believed them.

#  Problem Reports 149 and 267 were still in

® place to address the techrical issues, and so we
o) mustakenly did not see the need 1o do more at that
(11] me
12 As we proceed, from Septerber through
113 December the corrective actions from the management
committee, Problem Reports 267 and 149, there were
still some things there We were working on it,
The corrective actions from the MRC included that we
counsel all the operators. 1 personally talked to
the shift supervisors We reviewed other operating
curves to see whether we were operating close, and
there might be an issue with operators getung in
trouble We looked at that. We did a number of
things. We were continuing to look at the technical
issues, working on the calculations and what have

you

In fact, as a result of those efforts, on

{
r4]

-

4)
(18
(18]
i
el
19)
[20]
[21)
(22
[23)
{24)
125)
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11 November the 16th at 2 meeting which | attended 2
2 presentation was made, and we determined that Curve
@ B was in fact a design basis, and that resulted in
@ our LER 94009 Mr. Licberman made a2 comment
s earlier about something along the lines of, "Well,
i5 why in 149 didn 't you recognize that there'd been
17 other possible design violations”, d we did. [
i# just read the words in our caucus. We realized
® there may have been other - we in fact were on the
110 curve in other occasions and we had evidence that
111 there were other possible violations of design
112 bass.
119) We of course notified you within a one
14 hour repon that same day and wrote the LER And
115 let me say this, but this is something we re
(6 certainly not going to harp on The safety
i1 consequences of September the Sth were something
i like three times ten to the minus eleventh core
1w damage frequency.
(2 Now, the next thing that | think is
{21 relevant 1s that on November the 22nd there was an
#2y FPC/NRC management meeting here in Atlanta. Gary
23 Boldt represented us. Among other things, make-up
f24) tank evolution was discussed. And by the way, back
2s) when | said when we learned on September 13th of an

Pogoas_‘

i1 unauthonzed test and we notified our senior and our
@ branch, there's one other thing that we, Flonda
1w Power, failed to do. | failed to call Mr. Ebneter,
) and that was my failure.
8l Anyway, after the November 22nd meeting
® we sent a letter to you of December the 2nd
m documenting what we did in our management review
# commurtee meetings, what actions we were taking and
m had taken and were taking. At the same time, in
1o fact on that same day, I signed out 2 memo
(1) imtatng @ management seif-assessment to look at
(2 the 1ssues thar had been discussed in our meetng of
113 11-22 and other ssues that we 'd identified, and
14 this selfassessment was led by a member of our
s off-site safety review committee.
18 Duning December 94 to March '95, the
1n first Ol investigation was being conducted, and the
18 crew that performed the evolution was interviewed as
19 well as our manager of operations. As we continued
201 to follow the corrective actions from Problem
21 Reports 149 and 267, we continued to realize the
2z complexity of the interactions more and more, and we
23 were discovering some other things wrong, like the
=) borated water swap-over point and those kinds of
25 things

28] mmuducuucdinumdpmpcﬁybtouﬂ_\gnup.

‘| Page 37
‘m Two things came out of that. As part of

@ our evolving corrective action to have more
=lllelm:k:mnmn.emcmploceues‘v»'cludeaimkedotu
| W process where key issues were 1o designated, an

| 5 issue manager assigned, and the key issues generally

| 1 were those that involved complex interactions
!mmmmw.mchm.ud

- management that's a2 challenge and that we needed to

' ® do better Then, in addition to the issue manager,
4uqthcnmanmspomwhomtdﬁcaoro(m.
{1 Boldt or myself.

i1z We made Mr. Becker the issuc manager for
'uqallthcnuke-upnnhechnalm.plnkdlul
'Mw'cthcrmoncxﬁonphn,mdlbelicvconme

s first of February '95 we further modified the

' operating curve, which we had modified previously,
;l'nmonkmmmc%lndommwm
['m Sth, and we gave the operators a reduced curve and,
(9 as has been puinted out, we don't know that was
}mﬁlluoodcnouhluﬁmﬂy.onfehnnrymeln
(@1 we gave them a seven pound offset, and that has
‘@2 subsequently proved (o be conservative

;m Also, | will note for the record that

|ma) after September the 9th there had been no further
\2s) alarm violations of any limit or cur.  or any alarm

| Page 38
(1 with regard to make-up tank evolution, September the
| @ 9th, 1994 In February we also established what we
| m call our 49 step management corrective action plan
" as follows on to our self assessment that was

s conducted in December of '94 that | mentioned

® earlier. | mention this because we think it's very

n pertinent that these actions address the broader

# underlying factors reflected in the apparent

W violations.
o, As you know, the plan focuses on safety
(11 and human performance. In March we had our first
112 meeting with the NRC, the region, to discuss this
'3 management corrective action plan. There's been a
‘4 series of periodic meetings, four 1o date, and those
‘15 will continue. As we proceed, on July 7th
‘e Inspection Report 9513 established the original
}xm predecisional enforcement conterence and, as we were
|18 preparing for that, on July the 13th we became aware
(' that there d been an evolution the day before, and
'z we became aware through two channels
‘21 One, the bargaining unit operators had
w2 raised the issue through their attorney. | guess
@3 they had read the inspecuon report, | believe
‘24 that's correct, and realized that September the 4th
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11 and we became aware through that channel.

@ Concurrently and at the same time, the system

m engincer who was involved back in September in
“ resolving and addreseing Problem Reports 149 and
15 267 - and yes, this is system engineer - and two

& other system engincers back in the Seprember time
n frame did in fact know that it had been conducted
®) twice.

m  However back in that time frame and up

o until July they didn't put any importance on that.
111 They were focused on resolving the technical issucs,
112 and to them the data and everything, it was all the
113 same. They were assuming that we all knew or that
(14 management knew that it had been done twice

18 Now, we personally talked to them, every

18 one of them We're convinced thiat in their case

117 there was no intent not te tell, and we couid say,

(e “Well, you didn't use good judgment.” Well, okay,

ne fine But | will say that when the system engineer
1201 read the inspection report he noted also that, "Gee,
@1 it didn't say anything about the 4th", and properly
2 he came forward He told his boss, who told his

=) boss, who was a maintenance manager, who told Mr.
124 Hickle All this was within a day or two, and Mr.
@8 Suven also went thmu;h our cmployu concerns

P-pco
(1 program, so I got it through that channel and I got
@ it from Mr Hickle.

@ Why did Mr. Suven use our employee

# concerns program channel? Because he was the

5 manager of a large group of bargatning unit people
® and realized that four of our operating crew were
7 bargaining unit people. and he was a little bit

® concerned about, “Hey, you know, the union folks
1 were going to be angry with me for bringing

no something up.” Now, he then came forward within 2

(11 day and said, "l wrote it". We then found out, and

12 we told you immediately with a phone call.

3 MR. LIEBERMAN: Could I interrupt? You

4 said several things which 1 want to ask about. Were

(15 any of these engineenng system managers involved in

18 reviewing the LER, developing the LER response?

i MR.BEARD: Yes.

e MR LIEBERMAN: Who was involved?

pe MR, HALNON: Phil Saizman and | believe

2o, Pat Hinman.

21 MR LIEBERMAN: That LER describes the

2 event, but at that ume the 4th wasn't discussed
23 MR.BEARD: | can't answer the question
{24 as 1o what they thought about that. Can anyone?

28 MR LIEIEW Has anyone askcd them

|

1 about that?

@ MR.BEARD: Has anyone asked them?

'm MR KELLEY: It may have been asked -

‘W MR.BEARD: Do we want to table that and

1 get back to you? Would you rite that down as
;nmmkn;wnethd:wthcm?

'm MR KELLEY: We'll do that.

'@ MR BEARD: My understanding was that,

' ® again. the LER was written with regard to what
(1o happened on the Sth. Now, why the engineer involved
!m) didn’t think about the 4th or come forward, I can't
\12) say at this point, and we'll get back to you with
{1vs our understanding of that.

e MR.LIEBERMAN: The other issue is you

16 just said that the person who filed the concern, the
ne important thing is to raise the issue, that it's

117 better that he raise it that way than not ar all,

‘s obviously, but he was concerned, you say, that
's9 because the bargaining unit people may be angry
oy MA.BEARD: Yes.

‘@1 MR. LIEBERMAN: is that a normal concern,

@z that, when a manager raises ~ issue that may be
‘@3 relevant to safety or relevant 'o how the plant's

im operating, that workers respond by becoming angry?
'llll UBEMDNolthmkdmanm*“

Page 41-

| Page 42
| m expected response, and if anyone feels free to talk
[ @ about.
@ MR.BOLDT: Let me add one other thing.
' w Brian ar that time, Mr. Suven, was actually manager
| @ of system engineering, was he not, manager of
6] primary systems?
m MR GUTHERMAN: He was the supervisor of
| m System engineering, primary plant
| m  MRA.BOLDT: At the time of the test he
[vo was the supervisor of the mechanical primary
{11 Systems, SO system engineering reported to him. At
2 the time of the July discovery he had been
‘113 transferred for development purposes to manager of
{4 the mechanical maintenance shops. He was shop
[115) manager.
16 This was his first experience with
{11 bargaining unit personnel, his very first, to my
1w knowledge, and | think he knew that his performance,
ve his personal performance depended on his ability to
20 get good performance from his people, and 1 think he
i@1) had a genuine concern and maybe some naivete, but he
22y was genuinely concerned that he might lose the
3 support of his personnel in the shop, but there was

2 no such reacuon
s m UEBERW Have you given ccumelmg
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1" to other first line supervisors as part of your
2] SUpErvisory training program to counsel individuals
i on how to go about raising these types of issues and
) 10 address these marnters?
s MR BEARD: Well, we 've provided training
i and counscling with regard to the employee concerns
m program, how it works, what the intent is,
W encouraging people 1o come forward. So Jim, | think
® in the broad sense my answer would be yes. 1 think
o) Mr. Boldt put Mr. Suven in the proper frame of
(1) mund.
12 Also, realize that management, that we
i3 had already made an issue with the operators back in
14 September We had the NRC now, and there was a big
18 effect around our plant, a lot of concern,
118 particularly the operators were edgy, the bargaining
7 unit people. Thank God the people came forward.
1) Mr. Suven, the engineer that read the reporn and
19 brought it up, we're so very happy that it came
120 forward, that it did come forward, and in that way
21 I'd say our system worked.
22 MR. LIEBERMAN: Have you given any
@3 counseling to the engineers that didn 't bring it
(24) up?
s MR BEARD lperlomuy haven't

P.oo«’

i1 They've been talked to by you guys. Do you want to
@ answer that now or later? Who has talked with

m Hinman and Salzman about this?

“  MR.BOLDT: Jerry Campbell would have

s done that, but he's not here for me 1o verify that

&) with

m  MR.BEARD: Take that down, and we'll get

# back to you.

9 As a result of learning this, we launched
119 Into our investigation which was headed by, again, a
111 member of our on-site safety review committee. We
12 had a member of our security group on it. We had
(13 our safety concerns rep and a technical rep. We did
4 an extensive investigation We talked to many

s people. And the conclusion of the report was yes,
ne an unauthorized test was conducted on the 4th, and
(17 there was no other unauthorized test conducted on
i the make-up tank that they could find in 1994

[19) There was evidence that the shift

(20 supervisor and assistant shift supervisor had

z1 withheld informauon. There were something like
22 twelve occasions where they had opportunity 1o come
129 forward with that There was evidence that the

2] bargaining unit Operators were not entirely

28 (ormcommg but some mdcncc that they thou;ht they

| —

t

Page a5
(1 had told somebody. That's where we found out that
@ there were three engineers who knew of the test.
™ There s 10 evidence that management knew of the
4] test.

15) Then there were some other issues about

6] we should have done a full root cause, which v
) agree with, and that the shift supervisor's

w authority as to what he could or couldn't do was
®m adequately defined in September, and we provided
1o that investigation to Ol

11 MH. GIBSON: Could you clarify that iast

ny statement? | didn't understand. You said that

113 there was evidence that the shift supervisor's

114 authority was not adequately defined.

st MR.BEARD: No.The conclusion was that

ne) it was adequately defined. It's in our report.

vn We took additional corrective action as a

(e result of that investigation, some of which was

m discipline. We terminated the shift supervisor and
Jm assistant shift supervisor, we revoked the license
,ml of the chief nuclear operator, gave a reprimand to
|R2) one of the operators, and verbal couns. ung for one
@) of the others who was not involved in sptember the
|pq 4th.

m Andyou might say, “Wcll. gee, why dnd

: Page 46
| 11 you do this now and not back in September”, and the
| @ answer is very simple. It's a matter of integrity,
; m not comung forward when you knew you should have.
| W It's an enurely different issue. Now, had we known
| 151 about both in the same time in September would we
® have done differently with the operators then?
m That's hypothetical. Maybe not much more than with
| @ respect 1o the counseling and the things we did do.
m The issue here is the time lapse and that peopile
1o who, through their training, experience, and in fact
‘111 the basis for their license, sfould have known
{112 better and should have told us, and they didn't.
3 MR LIEBERMAN: Pat, are you going to
\1a) further discuss this investigation later on today?
lvs MR. BEARD: In what sense?
‘v, MR. LIEBERMAN: There was an issue called
11 developed ssue number three involving corrective
‘118 action which the investigators didn't have time to
ine pursue. | was wondering if that issue was ever
(o) pursued.
2y MR.BEARD: Yes, it was. | think as we
‘22 go through some of the details that you'll see that,
/12 and we can come back to that if you have further

|24 questons.
‘28  lnaddition to the discipline, wctook
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(1 six additional correctve actions such that we now )

2 call our corrective action plan the 49 plus six, 7
1 including such things as broadening the focus of ®
i« what situations could be defined as infrequently -
15 performed tests, more guidance to our shifts a | s
s checklist requiring plant manager approval, log L
m keeping pracuces. We expanded the management ' m
® review committee. We now call it the review ®
9 management panel process, and that's now documented @
(o) in a directive and how it s conducted and a number 10!
i1 of other things. 14y
112 Now, in August through December the )
13 second Ol investgation was conducted, and a number )
114) of other people were interviewed that were not 14
s interviewed the first time, including management. 181
v6 In December of 1995 we became aware that there were |
(17 additional make-up tank alarm events, and we were

nn

provided through a third step grievance some data (18)

from the computer that indicated that on other
occasions in July through September during our
normal evolutions of five a day to keep the pressure

{(19]
(20

21

1

122 up that it appeared that alarms had been exceeded ;
123 and maybe for some perod of time, 23
24y  Now, you could say, "Well, ,ce, why (24)
2s) didn’t you know about that sooner”, and what can you 125)

Page 48

(1) say other than, "Well, yes, we should have " [ wish "

2 we had Well, why didn't we? The investigation of 2

® August 94 went back and looked at the strip chart @)

) recorders which the operators used to manipulate the @

plant. They talked to the operators They did c
everything but one thing that was subsequently done
by one of the operators we terminated, and that's 1o
g0 back and pull off all the computer data, which
the computer generates the alarm, and see what that
says.

We investigated this information, and Mr.
Halnon conducted that investigaton, and we
(13 confirmed that in fact in nine instances between
t14) July '94 and September the 9th that the alarm was
5] received and was not dealt with in a timely manner,
and we reported that to you in our letter of
December the 27th As a result of that
mnvesugation, we 've taken some additional
corrective actions with regard to alarm response

6
n
8
)
(10
(11
12

18
i)

(9
{14)

12

{13)
[14)
18]
18) 116
('
[18)
el

o) tramning, further strengthening the procedures and 120)
@1 things like that, really a reinforcement of the @1
122 things we already had under way Then of course we 22)
@3 received the March 8th report. and that brings us to 23]
(24) today.

(24)

1285} [28)

So that's what happened, and we will
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further talk about some of these things as we get
around to answering the key questions and your other
questions. This is just sort of a summary of what
are some of the key things I've said. Certainly the
issues involved are complex We've learned a lot
about how this system interacts with something like
nine competing operation requirements, Our
corrective actions have been ongoing since
Sentember ‘94, including our management corrective
acnion plan, which does address the underlying
factors.

We've had interactions ongoing with you
since November, and we feel that we ve kept you
informed with the exception that 1 didn't call Mr.
Ebneter after September Sth. Again, not dwelling on
the safety consequences, what's important, as you've
said, and we recognize, is the human performance
issues, including management.

I'd like Greg now to just very briefly
talk about the system, and then we'll go to the
plant manager.

Mr. Ebneter, you brought up the fact that
you'd like to after each violation then have
questions, and we appreciate that.

MR. EBNETER: | recognize that it may not
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fit your agenda.
MR. BEARD: It may not fit exactly, but
we'll work wiath it. We planned to have Mr, Hickle
talk about the first two violations and then talk to

5 the management oversight that relat=s to those.

Now, | would assume that probably, say,
if we stopped after A that your questions would
probably focus on management oversight, which he's
going to talk about. We'll stop after A and then
see how it goes
MR. GIBSON: Let's try it
MR. EBNETER: I'll let Al sort of control
us.
MR. GIBSON: After each violation let's
stop, and if you're going to COvVer our queston
later, tell us so and we'll relate 1t after
I'd like to maybe ask a question or two
about'your presentation at this point, if | may.
You at the outset described your
expectation that the operators should stay below
Curve 8 but that's a little different than the
understanding we had We understopd that your
expectation was that they stay on Curve 8. 25 close

to or on Curve 8 as possible.
MR.BEARD: Al [ believe that's
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1 mcorrect, but [ would let Mr. Hickle and Mr -

@  MR.GIBSON: What we understood from

3 interviews with operators and discussions with
) others is that Pat Beard's expectation was for them

to stay on Curve 8.

MR. BEARD: That's totally incorrect. My
expectation was from the beginming and has remained
1o strive to maintain hydrogen concentration within
the recommended chemistry guidelines. That's the
only expectation that I've ever expressed.

MR. BOLDT: | would go on the record and
say, t0o, Al having been in many meetings with Mr.
Beard, that the only conversation I recall him
having dealt with cc's per kg, which is not an
element of the curve at all. Only pressure and
level are. He was strictly talking about the
maintenance of the dissoived hydrogen level

MR. GIBSON: 50 you expected them to meet
the objective of 25 cc¢'s par kg. That was your
expectauon.

MR. BEARD: Yes. | expected our
organization to operate the plant such that the
hydrogen chemustry was maintained in the band.

MR. GIBSON: In the tume frame that we re
disc ussmg. the fall of '94, did you have an
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understanding and appreciation of the burden that
was on the operators for maintaining this hydrogen
concentration?

MR. BEARD: | didn 't have as detailed an
i understanding as | have today. [ recog. zed that it
placed an additional burden, that they were having
7 to manipulate the tank more often, that increased
operator arrention was required, and that we were
looking for ways to further aileviate this burden.
We talked about things from relocating the make-up
tank to give 1t a different elevauon, which really
wasn t very feasible, to how to use the hydrogen
regulator, serung it higher and letung it be
automatic, and what kept us from that was Appendix
R, one of those competing requirements. | was aware
that there was additional operator burden, and we
were taking steps to address it

MR. LIEBERMAN: Were you aware that the
operators had a concern that this curve was
non-conservative?

MR. BEARD: I'd say yes 1 didn't
appreciate the depth of the concern of one chief
operator who was the one that really pushed this,
although 1 had talked with him personally. | wiil
2% say in all umdnr that I dndn t have 4 full

)
=
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1 appreciation before September. | did after that
12 because | talked personally with him after
13 September. | was aware of the fact that there was
- 4 additional operator burden, that they were pushed in
15 @ narrow box. | was not aware before September that
@ there was an issue about the curve being wrong, |
- m think that was being discussed with Mr Van Sicklen
& and a few other people.
'@ MR.LIEBERMAN: Is it unusual for
110) operators to have the view that various operators’
[111) limits or administrative limits are
[112) non-conservatve? Is that a common occurrence.
E(m MR. BEARD: No, it's not common.
[u| MR. LIEBERMAN: Are you disappointed or
msx do you feel that your managers met your expectations
(6] in not bringing it forward to you or should they
17 have brought it forward to you, or is that something
(18] that they should handie themselves.
e MR.BEARD: That's a very difficult
I20] question to answer at this point in time. To give
21 you a candid answer, | would almost have to go back
/ez) and hypothesize. Let me say that I'm quite
23 confident, and 1 was quite confident in September of
24} '94 with regard to the fact that we had a very
|esi effective, in my view thcn and now, an cffecuvc

1) employee concerns program. [ can give you many
12) examples where it worked, where people felt free 1o

- @ bring things forward They weren't blocked and,

4 they were promptly dealt with. | personally read

5 every employee concern.

6 My managers and myself in September, and

m since, I think, are involved in the plant. |

i8) frequently go to the plant. I walk around the

@ plant, I'm in the control room. People know they
(10 can talk to me. I think it was, first of all,

(1) unusual for operators to have, you know, concerns
with real safety concerns with things that they were
trying to operate. | feel that in this case, and |

would say that you can ask Mr Van Sickien whenever
he's up here, but in hindsight, if you were that
concerned, why didn't you use the employee concerns
(17 program? And | think 1in hindsight I'm not sure he

(&) could answer that, in ali candor.
pg MR. GIBSON: Pat, we 've talked about nine

[20) occasions where Curve 8 was violated. I'm sure that
{21 now you're aware and in fact the alarm for exceeding
(z2) Curve 8 occurred on many more occasions than that.
23] We selected the nine occasions that were the most

124) significant.
25 MR, BEARD ch

2
113)
(14}
(18]

llq)
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' m You're getting mixed up with what we have today and
@ back then. Back then we had an annunciator alarm.
'ty On occasion | knew that the tank was coming alarm.
4 Mark had talked about when we get up near the curve
5 the alarm comes in. We nevor talked duraton We
) never talked about that this was violating the
m MR HICKLE: No. m curve. What we talked about was that the alarm came

®  MR. GIBSON: That doesn 't seem consistent '@ in. it added concern, and my expectations was the
19 with management's presence in the control room, the @ alarm was being dealt with.

o tours that you say you ook and that you addressed
i earlier, Pat, the fact that yes, the investigation 1) and reviewed the annunciator printouts? I didn't
112 that we did, the internal investgation failed to 112 think of it at the time My expectation was the

(113 pick up on it. But of more significance to me is I3 alarms were being dealt with like they normally

(4 why didn't managerent know that these numerous 14 would be dealt with When the alarm comes in, the

115 alarms were occurning during normal plant operation !(vn horn sounds and you get an annunciator window that
()  MR. BEARD: | will answer that. Bruce is

lpe) says make-up tank high or low pressure and you look
(11 going to cover this That's a question that we ask ‘

(17 up on a screen. At that point the operators are
18 ourselves. First of all, there were 669 make-up 18 expected to take the LER out. I'm not sure where

19 tank evolutions during the penod of the (9 you were leading.

120, nvesugaton, two of which were the 4th and Sth MR. BEARD: Well, my point is if you go
21 And - let me get might mach ngh. - on 49 of those 21/ in @ control room at any time, say | go in there and

@22 an alarm was recewved. ltzz1 | maybe spend 15 minutes and I would say you spend
@3 MR.HALNON: 21 of the evolutions had an 'z more time, and Bruce will talk about this more than
@24 alarm. Some of them were multiple alarms w4 1 do, and Gary. At any time there may be a number

@s MR LIEBERMAN: We can accept it was a 126 of alarms in, and we can talk about them. I don't

1 MR.GIBSON: Were you personally aware
121 that that curve was frequently violated?

m  MR.BEARD: No.

«  MR.GIBSON: Were you, Gary?

5 MR.BOLDT: No.

® MR. GIBSON: Were you, Bruce?

110) Now, in hindsight should I have gone up

£
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